COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

Between

THE KETCHIKAN GATEWAY BOROUGH And THE ALASKA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION/AFT, AFL-CIO

December 20, 2024, through December 19, 2027

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article 1	Recognition	3
Article 2	Management Rights	4
Article 3	Definitions	6
Article 4	Hiring, Probation, and Termination	8
Article 5	Work Schedule and Overtime	11
Article 6	Compensation	15
Article 7	Holidays	18
Article 8	Paid Time Off	20
Article 9	Seniority	23
Article 10	Leave of Absence	24
Article 11	Jury Duty	26
Article 12	Training	27
Article 13	Medical Benefits	28
Article 14	Retirement Plan	30
Article 15	Labor-Management Committee	31
Article 16	No Strike - No Lockout	32
Article 17	Grievance Procedure	33
Article 18	Safety Practices	36
Article 19	Travel	37
Article 20	Employment Practices	38
Article 21	Nondiscrimination	42
Article 22	Association Security	43
Article 23	Uniforms	45
Article 24	General Provisions	47
Article 25	Term of Agreement	49
Appendix A	Schedule of Pay Classifications	51
Appendix B	Assignment of Wages to Cover Association Dues	52
Appendix C	Grievance Form	53

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between KETCHIKAN GATEWAY BOROUGH (hereinafter referred to as the "Employer") and ALASKA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION/AFT (hereinafter referred to as the "Association").

PREAMBLE

The purpose of the Agreement is to set forth the understanding reached between the parties hereto with respect to wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment.

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

- 1.1 The Employer recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for, and this Agreement shall cover, all full-time and part-time employees in the job classifications set forth in Appendix A to this Agreement, excluding confidential employees, managerial employees, temporary/part-time employees as defined in Section 3.3, department heads, and other supervisors. Whenever the terms "employee" or "employees" are used elsewhere in this Agreement, such terms shall refer to employees within the bargaining unit so defined.
- 1.2 In addition, absent objections from any other collective bargaining representative, the bargaining unit shall include, and this Agreement shall cover, all full-time and part-time employees in new job classifications created after the effective date of this Agreement, excluding confidential employees, managerial employees, temporary/part-time employees as defined in Section 3.3, guards, department heads and other supervisors, and employees covered by other collective bargaining agreements.

ARTICLE 2 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 2.1 The Association recognizes the right of the Employer to operate and manage the Borough Government, including but not limited to the right to establish and require standards of performance; to maintain order and efficiency; to direct employees; to determine job assignments and work schedules; to determine the materials and equipment to be used; to implement new and different operational methods and procedures; to determine staffing levels and requirements; to determine the kind, type, and location of facilities; to introduce new or different services, products, methods, or facilities; to extend, limit, contract out, or curtail the whole or any part of the operation; to select, hire, classify, assign, promote, transfer, discipline, demote, or discharge employees for just cause; to lay off and recall employees; to require overtime work of employees; to approve leave schedules; and to promulgate and enforce rules, regulations and personnel policies and procedures; provided that such rights, which are vested solely and exclusively in the Employer, shall not be exercised so as to violate any of the specific provisions of this Agreement. The parties recognize that the above statement of management rights is for illustrative purposes only and should not be construed as restrictive or interpreted so as to exclude management prerogatives not mentioned. All matters not covered by the language of this Agreement may be administered by the Employer on a unilateral basis in accordance with such policies and procedures as it from time to time shall determine. Any claim that the Employer has exercised such rights and power contrary to the provisions of the Agreement may be submitted to the grievance procedure contained herein. This section shall not conflict with the Association security provisions contained herein.
- 2.2 The Employer shall have the right to subcontract work covered by this Agreement with thirty (30) days' advance notice to the Association. No employees shall be laid off and their work contracted out unless such contracting action would be at less cost to the Employer. Prior to any contracting out the Employer shall provide the Association with any and all information pertinent to that decision. The Association shall then have thirty (30) calendar days to comment on such contracting out and to provide alternatives.
- 2.3 Maintenance, repair, changes and replacement to Employer-owned facilities may be performed by Borough employees. Borough equipment and employees may be used to assist in contracted work or other work when needed, even though this work is outside of their normal assigned workplace or duties. Any such assignment shall be made in writing, and a copy of the assignment will be placed in the employee's personnel file. No such assignment shall be made unless the employee is trained and qualified to perform the tasks required.

- 2.4 Each position in the bargaining unit will have a job description setting forth the usual and regular duties and requirements of that position.
- 2.5 Employees may request review and revision of their job descriptions once every twenty-four (24) months based on the date of the employee's last request. The employee may submit in writing recommended changes to the current job descriptions. The employee's supervisor or department head shall respond to such requests within thirty (30) days after receipt. Any disagreements shall, upon written request of the employee, be reviewed by the Human Resources Manager and the employee.
- 2.6 Should an employee's job description be revised to reflect substantially and materially different duties, the Association may request a meeting with the HR Manager to negotiate the range assignment on the pay schedule for the newly assigned job duties.
- 2.7 Any employee who believes he or she has been assigned to the wrong job classification may submit a grievance to be resolved pursuant to the grievance procedure contained herein. The pay rates assigned to job classifications covered by this Agreement shall not be subject to the grievance procedure during the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 3 DEFINITIONS

- 3.1 **Full-Time Employees**. Employees regularly scheduled to work forty (40) hours per week.
- 3.2 **Part-Time Employees**. Employees who are regularly scheduled to work at least nineteen (19) hours but less than forty (40) hours per week. Such employees shall receive benefits on a pro rata basis according to the number of hours worked, except that medical benefits shall be provided as set forth in Article 13.
- 3.3 **Temporary/Part-Time Employees**. Employees who are not regularly scheduled and who work when work is available, or who are regularly scheduled to work less than nineteen (19) hours per week, or who are hired to work a regular schedule during a specific period not to exceed six (6) months when additional work of any nature requires a temporarily augmented force, or who are hired in the event of an emergency, or to relieve employees because of illness, or to work during vacation periods or to work on a specific temporary project of limited duration. A probationary employee is not and shall not be considered to be a temporary/part-time employee. Upon request, the Employer will notify the Association when it has hired temporary/part-time employees and when they are reclassified or change projects. Temporary/part-time employees are not covered by this Agreement.
- 3.4 **Exempt Employees**. Employees who are exempt from the minimum wage and overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- 3.5 **Nonexempt Employees**. Employees who are not exempt from the minimum wage and overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- 3.6 **Probationary Employees**. The status that all new employees (including Aircraft Rescue/Firefighters) are in for a period not to exceed the first six (6) months of their employment plus the duration of any time off taken during the first six months, or, if the employee is appointed to the Airport Law Enforcement Officer classification or the Firefighter/EMT classification, not to exceed the first twelve (12) months of their employment.
- 3.7 **Emergency**. For the purposes of this Agreement, an emergency shall include a sudden, unexpected or unforeseen circumstance or combination of circumstances or the resulting state or condition that calls for immediate or urgent action.
- 3.8 **Demotion**. An involuntary assignment of a regular employee to a classification having a lower pay grade.
- 3.9 **Promotion**. The assignment of an employee to a classification in a higher pay grade.

- 3.10 **Transfer**. The assignment of an employee to a different classification at the same or lower pay grade.
- 3.11 **Classification or Job Classification**. Each position within the APEA bargaining unit that is listed in Appendix A (Schedule of Pay Classifications).

ARTICLE 4 HIRING, PROBATION AND TERMINATION

4.1 **Vacancies**. When there is a vacancy to be filled within the Borough, the Employer shall post a conspicuous notice of that vacancy and the accompanying job description electronically and on all bulletin boards designated through the Labor Management Committee. The vacancy may be advertised to the public concurrently, however, the vacancy will be posted for a period of not less than seven calendar days. When a qualified regular employee applies for any Borough position, they shall be afforded the opportunity to be interviewed for the opening. However, the Employer reserves the right to fill any and all vacancies with the most qualified candidate. If a qualified regular employee is not selected for the vacancy, they shall, upon request, be provided an explanation for their non-selection from Human Resources or their designee.

4.2 **Probationary Period**.

- 4.2.1 Except as provided in Sections 4.2.2 and 4.2.3, all new employees covered by this Agreement shall be considered employed on a probationary basis and classified as such for a period not to exceed the first six (6) months of their employment. If retained after six (6) months in the same position, such employees shall thereafter be considered regular employees, be classified as such and be entitled to all rights and privileges contained in this Agreement.
- 4.2.2 Employees assigned to the Law Enforcement Officer or Firefighter/EMT classification shall be considered employed on a probationary basis and classified as such for a period not to exceed the first twelve (12) months of their employment. If retained after twelve (12) months in the same position, such employees shall thereafter be considered regular employees, be classified as such and be entitled to all rights and privileges contained in this Agreement.
- 4.2.3 If a temporary/part-time employee is appointed to a bargaining unit position of the same classification as the employee's temporary/part-time employment, a maximum of sixty (60) workdays (computed on the normal workday for the position to be filled) of the time actually worked within that classification as a temporary/part-time employee within the nine (9) calendar months immediately prior to that appointment may be counted toward the employee's probationary period.
- 4.2.4 Any employee who is promoted shall be given a reasonable period, not to exceed sixty-five (65) workdays, to become acquainted with the job and to demonstrate

ability to fill the job satisfactorily. If, during this trial period, the employee demonstrates unsatisfactory ability for the job or at the employee's request, the employee shall be returned to the employee's former job without loss of seniority. If an employee accepts a position vacated by an employee who has been promoted, the appointment shall be conditioned upon the successful completion of the promoted employee's trial period.

4.3 **Discipline and Discharge**

- 4.3.1 With the exception of insubordination, dishonesty, drunkenness, physical misconduct, abusive or lewd behavior, or abandonment of duties, all regular employees shall be given two (2) weeks' notice, or two (2) weeks' pay prior to discharge. The employee shall be notified in writing of the reason(s) for discharge prior to termination.
- 4.3.2 No regular employee shall be disciplined or discharged without just cause. The existence of cause for discipline or discharge, if disputed, shall be subject to the grievance procedure contained herein. Probationary employees may be disciplined or discharged at any time without cause and without access to the grievance procedure contained herein.

4.4 Layoff

- 4.4.1 If any regular nonexempt employee covered by this Agreement is laid off, the Employer shall give the affected employee notice in writing two (2) weeks in advance, or in lieu of such notice, two (2) weeks' pay at the employee's regular rate of pay at the time of such layoff. No such layoff will occur while the Employer has temporary employees performing work for which the prospective laid off employee is qualified. Any temporary hires made must first be offered to qualified employees in layoff status in order of seniority. Acceptance of temporary Borough employment will in no way affect an employee's layoff rights.
- 4.4.2 For a period of one (1) year following layoff, except as provided below, a laid off employee will be afforded the opportunity to apply for any job classification for which he/she is qualified and will, if qualifications are at least equal, be given preferential hire to the vacancy. If a position becomes vacant which is the same or substantially the same as the one from which the individual was laid off, he/she will be offered the position before any recruitment. If more than one (1) employee is in layoff status, the seniority provisions of Article 9 will be observed. A laid off employee who is re-employed in the same job description will not be required to serve a new probationary period. All layoffs return rights under this agreement expire one year after the effective date of the layoff.

- 4.4.2.1 Employees may lose their layoff rights under the following circumstances at the time of or during the layoff period:
 - a. If the Employer determines the Employee is not eligible for rehire due to misconduct, or
 - b. Accepts another job with the Borough
- 4.4.3 If any regular exempt employee covered by this Agreement is laid off, the Employer shall give the affected employee notice in writing thirty (30) days in advance. Nonexempt employees shall provide at least two (2) weeks written notice of intent to resign unless waived by the Employer. Exempt employees shall provide at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of intent to resign unless waived by the Employer. At the Employer's option, any employee leaving Borough service for any reason may be paid in lieu of any notice period.
- 4.4.4 An employee who is laid off or discharged by the Employer shall receive all accrued earnings including accrued but unused PTO, in accordance with Article 8, less any monies owed the Employer at the time the layoff or termination occurs. An employee who resigns shall receive all accrued earnings including accrued but unused PTO less any monies owed the Employer at the time of termination, provided the employee has given a minimum notice of two (2) weeks. Employees resigning without giving at least two (2) weeks written notice shall forfeit eight (8) hours of accrued PTO pay for every day short of two (2) weeks' notice, up to a maximum of eighty (80) hours of forfeited PTO.
- 4.4.5 Any layoffs shall be made in the inverse order of the seniority of the employees within the job classification, provided skill and ability are not considered overriding factors as determined by the Employer. When vacancies occur in APEA-represented job classifications in which employees are on layoff, the employees shall be recalled in order of their seniority provided that employee is eligible for rehire, is qualified to fill that position and was previously employed in the bargaining unit of the vacant position.

ARTICLE 5 WORK SCHEDULE AND OVERTIME

5.1 Workweek and Workday

- 5.1.1 The normal workweek shall consist of five (5) consecutive workdays of forty (40) hours within a seven (7) day period, with two (2) consecutive days off. However, it is agreed that Law Enforcement Officers, Airport Custodians, Parking Attendants, Maintenance Laborers, Ferry Toll Collectors, and ARFF personnel (to include Airport Technician, Airport Technician Foreman, and Equipment Mechanic II), may, at the option of the employer, be subject to an alternative schedule of ten (10) consecutive workdays, with five (5) consecutive days off. Overtime for such shifts shall only be paid after eighty (80) hours worked in a regular two (2) work week period, or for over 8 hours worked in one shift. Other alternative schedules, such as four (4) ten (10) hour days, may, at the option of the employer, be adopted and overtime for such shifts shall only be paid after forty (40) hours worked per week.
 - 5.1.1.1 The normal workday for non-airport employees shall consist of eight (8) hours plus an unpaid meal period of at least one-half (1/2) hour. The normal workday for employees at the airport and transit bus drivers shall consist of eight (8) hours, which shall include a paid, unscheduled meal period.
- 5.1.2 The Employer shall provide employees scheduled to work six (6) or more hours per day with two (2) ten (10) minute paid rest breaks per day, one to occur during the first half of the work day and the other to occur during the second half, unless the employee's work is of such an intermittent nature that comparable rest breaks occur during the course of that employee's normal work day.
- 5.1.3 Where mutually agreeable to the Employer and the employee concerned, a normal workday or shift may consist of more than eight (8) hours.
- 5.1.4 It is understood and agreed that temporary deviations, from the normal work schedule will occur from time to time, resulting from several causes, such as, but not limited to, vacations, leaves of absence, jury duty, weekend and holiday duty, absenteeism, employee requests, temporary shortages of personnel and emergencies. Such deviations shall not be considered a violation of this Agreement. Temporary deviations shall not exceed two (2) work weeks.
- 5.1.5 The regular workday for all employees covered by this Agreement shall begin when

they are scheduled to report to work at their principal work location and shall end when they are released from that location. Employees shall be responsible for their personal transportation costs in reporting to their principal work locations. Employees assigned to the airport will receive free non-vehicular transportation to and from the airport on the ferry and their workday will start at the scheduled beginning of their specifically assigned duties.

- 5.1.6 An employee may exchange a scheduled day off for another day if the employee's supervisor and any other affected employee agree.
- 5.1.7 Except in emergencies, situations covered by Section 5.1.4, or when unforeseen events occur which are outside the Employer's control, changes to the work schedule will be provided in writing no less than two (2) work weeks prior to the scheduled change. Failure to provide written notice will result in overtime pay at the appropriate rate for all hours worked that are different from the employee's previous schedule until the two-week notice period has passed.

5.2 **Overtime**

- 5.2.1 Subject to alternate schedules as provided in Section 5.1, all time worked by nonexempt employees in excess of forty (40) hours during any one (1) work week and eight (8) hours in any single day shall be considered overtime.
- 5.2.2 All overtime must be authorized in advance by the Employer and shall be computed at the rate of one and one-half (1½) times the employee's straight-time hourly rate of pay except as otherwise provided for in Article 5.3.
- 5.2.3 If an eligible employee has agreed to a workweek in excess of forty (40) hours or eight (8) hours a day, all time worked in excess of that employee's agreed workweek or workday shall be considered overtime and paid at the overtime rate in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- 5.2.4 On scheduled overtime, scheduled meal periods without pay shall be provided to nonexempt employees every four (4) hours. On nonscheduled overtime, a meal allowance of \$12 will be paid to nonexempt employees, if the overtime exceeds two (2) hours and each continuous four (4) hour period thereafter. Scheduled overtime shall be defined as that overtime for which the employee receives notice at least twelve (12) hours prior to the employee's regular shift.
- 5.2.5 Where overtime exceeds six (6) continuous hours, a four (4)-hour rest period must

be allowed prior to returning to the regular straight-time schedule. Nonexempt employees will be paid at the straight-time rate for any scheduled normal work hours falling within the four (4) hour rest period.

5.2.6 The Employer will endeavor to assign overtime equitably based on the Borough's operational needs and the employee's availability and willingness to work overtime. Upon written request by the Union to the Department Head, the Borough shall provide the total overtime hours worked per employee calendar year to date no more often than every other month.

5.3 Shifts and Shift Differentials

5.3.1 Employees shall be entitled to shift differential for actual hours worked during non-standard shifts as determined in writing by the employee's department head, in accordance with current departmental schedules.

Swing Shift \$1.75 per hour Grave Shift \$2.25 per hour

- 5.3.2 Any overtime worked by an employee who is scheduled to work either the swing or grave shift shall be paid at the following computed rate: straight-time hourly rate of pay plus shift differential times one and one-half (1.5).
- 5.3.3 In the case of temporary deviations from an employee's assigned shift an employee will continue to receive shift differential per their normal schedule or at the differential of the shift to which they are assigned, whichever is higher.
- 5.4 **Double Time for Hours Worked in Excess of Twelve**. Employees required to work in excess of twelve (12) consecutive hours will be compensated at twice their normal rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of twelve (12).
- 5.5 **Seventh Consecutive Day of Work**. Employees will be compensated at one and one-half (1.5) times their normal rate of pay for all hours worked on the seventh consecutive day of work, except those classifications who are scheduled to regularly work ten (10) consecutive days with five (5) consecutive days off.

5.6 **Standby**

- 5.6.1 When employees are required to be available for immediate recall, they shall be considered on standby. When employees are specifically assigned standby responsibilities, they will be paid two (2) hours at straight time on their normally scheduled workdays and three (3) hours at straight time on their regular or normally scheduled days off. All work time shall be paid at the one and one-half (1 ½) time rate.
- 5.6.2 Nonexempt employees scheduled or called in to work on their days off, or on holidays will receive a minimum of four (4) hours' work or pay in lieu thereof.

5.7 **Recall**

- 5.7.1 All full-time nonexempt employees recalled to work after completion of their normal workday shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours' pay at the one and one-half (1-1/2) time rate. When work continues without interference after normal quitting time, the minimum call out will not apply.
- 5.7.2 When an employee is contacted for immediate recall, recall pay shall begin at the time of notification. When an employee is contacted for recall to return to work at a later time during the day, recall pay shall begin when the employee returns to the work site.
- 5.8 **Early Start**. Any full-time nonexempt employee called to work before his or her regular starting time shall be paid at the overtime rate until the start of his or her regular shift.
- 5.9 **No Pyramiding.** There shall be no pyramiding or duplication of premium pay and/or overtime pay.

ARTICLE 6 COMPENSATION

- 6.1 Employees covered by this Agreement shall be paid in accordance with the guidelines contained herein and the applicable pay rates in Appendix A.
 - 6.1.1 Until adjusted in accordance with this contract, the hourly wage table corresponding to the Grades in Appendix A shall be the same hourly wage table used for non-represented employees as expressed by Exhibit B to Resolution 2907. COLA adjustments which are provided for in this Agreement are not a material change. If the wage table is materially changed, the Borough shall notify the Union in writing or through electronic email correspondence and the Union may request to re-open negotiations on Article 6. Such request shall be in writing and within 90 days after the date the Assembly adopts the amendment to the wage table. If notice to reopen is given, negotiations shall commence within 30 days following the date of notice. For purposes of this section, amendments to the positions or placement of positions listed as non-represented positions on Exhibit A of Resolution 2907 or subsequent resolutions of the same type, do not constitute a material change.
 - 6.1.2 Employees covered by this Agreement shall receive cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) increases as follows: 2.0% effective July 1, 2025, 2.0% effective July 1, 2026, and 2.0% effective July 1, 2027.
 - 6.1.2.1 In the event the Borough Assembly adopts a cost-of-living increase (COLA) for the non-represented employees for 2025, 2026, and/or 2027, the employees covered by this Agreement shall receive a COLA in an amount of the greater of the COLA adopted for the non-represented employees for that year and the amount provided for in subsection 6.1.2.
 - 6.1.3 Employees shall move one step at their anniversary and shall be eligible for a second step under the same rules and guidelines offered to non-represented employees.
 - 6.1.4 Evaluations of personnel who have reached regular status under 4.2.2 shall be completed by the employee's anniversary date. Should an evaluation not be completed within 45 days following the employee's anniversary date, the employee shall receive an automatic step increase effective on their anniversary date.

- 6.1.5 Employees at or above the top Step for their Grade shall receive a lump sum payment on each anniversary. The payment shall be calculated as the employee's regular base hourly rate of pay X 2080 x 1.5 percent, less any applicable taxes.
- 6.2 No employee shall suffer a reduction in wages as a result of signing this Agreement.
- 6.3 If a new employee is hired into a position covered by this Agreement at an advanced step placement within the same job title as an existing employee who has been employed in that same job title for three (3) years or more, and the pay rate for the existing employee whose rate of pay is equal to or less than the new employee's rate of pay shall be increased so that the existing employee's pay rate is one (1) step above the starting pay for the new employee.
- 6.4 Employees temporarily assigned by the Employer in writing to a higher paid position and required to perform all of the normal duties of that position for one (1) or more days shall be paid an additional eight percent (8%) over their regular rate of pay; provided, however, that this provision shall not apply to assignments made for purposes of training (including on-the-job training). Such assignment of duties shall be initiated through a personnel action form completed prior to the assignment, a copy of which shall be placed in the employee's personnel file.
- 6.5 The Employer will pay employees semi-monthly by the 5th and the 20th day of each month. If payday falls on a holiday or weekend, the preceding business day shall be the payday.
- 6.6 Probationary employees shall receive a one-step increase upon successful completion of their probation. Newly hired Law Enforcement Officers shall receive a one-step increase after six (6) months of consecutive service.
- 6.7 An employee who is promoted to or classified into a higher paid position shall be placed on Step A on the schedule at the rate for that position, or at a Step for the new position which is equal to or greater than the employee's previous pay rate plus 3.0%, whichever is greater.

6.8 Shift Leader Bus Driver Premium

6.8.1 **Shift Leader Bus Driver Premium**. A Bus Driver I may be designated to act as Shift Leader on the work schedule by the Transit Manager, or designee. The Transit Director shall issue a memorandum outlining the duties and responsibilities of Bus Driver Shift Leader. An employee designated as Shift Leader shall be paid one dollar (\$1.25) per hour in addition to the employee's applicable rate of pay for all

hours actually performing Shift Leader work.

- 6.8.2 **Shift Leader Transit Mechanic Premium**. A Transit Mechanic may be designated to act as Shift Leader on the work schedule by the Transit Manager, or designee. The Transit Director shall issue a memorandum outlining the duties and responsibilities of Transit Mechanic Shift Leader. An employee designated as Shift Leader shall be paid one dollar (\$1.25) per hour in addition to the employee's applicable rate of pay for all hours actually performing Shift Leader work.
- 6.9 **Airport Law Enforcement Officer Premium.** Upon acquiring police officer intermediate certificate in accordance with 13 AAC 85.040(c) an Airport Law Enforcement Officer will be eligible for a one-time, 4% increase in pay. Pay is calculated from the employees' current grade and step (base pay) and added thereto.
 - 6.9.1 **LEO Premium for ARFF Certification**. Upon an Airport Law Enforcement Officer acquiring ARFF certification, the Airport Law Enforcement Officer will be eligible for a one-time, 4% increase in pay. Pay is calculated from the employees' current grade and step (base pay) and added thereto. Training will be provided in accordance with the provisions of Article 12, Training, herein.
- 6.10 **Transit Driver Incentive Program.** The Ketchikan Gateway Borough may offer a seasonal driver incentive program for full-time bus drivers, and lead and shift lead drivers covered by this Agreement who meet attendance standards established by the Borough.
- 6.11 ASE Certified Master Transit Bus Technician Premium. Employees who achieve ASE Certified Master Transit Bus Technician status, including completion of tests H1 or H2, H3, H4, H5, H6, H7, and H8, will be eligible for a one-time 4% increase in their base pay. Pay is calculated from the employees' current grade and step (base pay) and added thereto.
- 6.12 Pay Increase for Appraiser III Certification. Effective January 1, 2026, Appraisers possessing an Appraiser III certification from the Alaska Association of Assessing Officers (AAAO) or upon receiving that certification, an Appraiser will be eligible for a one-time 4% increase in base pay. This increase shall be calculated based on the employee's current grade and step (base pay) and added thereto.

ARTICLE 7 HOLIDAYS

7.1 The following holidays shall be recognized under this Agreement:

New Year's Day January 1

Martin Luther King, Jr. Day

Third Monday in January

President's Day Third Monday in February

Memorial Day Last Monday in May

Independence Day July 4

Labor Day First Monday in September

Alaska Day October 18
Veteran's Day November 11

Thanksgiving Day Fourth Thursday in November Day after Thanksgiving Fourth Friday in November

Christmas Day December 25

7.1.1 In addition to the holidays listed immediately above, the Employer will recognize as paid Borough holidays any day designated by Borough ordinance.

7.1.2 In departments open five (5) days a week (Monday through Friday), when any of the above holidays fall on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be observed as the holiday, or when it falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be observed. Borough employees who work in departments open seven (7) days per week including but not limited to Animal Protection, Airport, and Transit, shall observe holidays upon the day of the week on which they fall.

7.2 In addition to the holidays granted above:

- 7.2.1 All full-time employees who have worked at the Borough for six (6) months shall receive one (1) floating holiday to be taken at a time approved by the employee's department head in writing. If that floating holiday is not taken during the employee's first year of employment it shall be converted to PTO.
- 7.2.2 All regular full-time employees who have completed twelve (12) months of employment shall receive two (2) floating holidays per anniversary year of employment to be taken at a time approved by the employee's department head in writing. Any floating holidays not actually taken by the employee within twelve (12) months of receipt shall be converted to PTO.

Page 18 of 53

- 7.3 If a holiday falls during an employee's scheduled workweek, the employee shall receive time off without loss of pay.
- 7.4 Work performed on holidays shall be paid for at the rate of time and one-half (1½) in addition to the regular day's pay.
 - 7.4.1 Employees working on a Paid Borough holiday, shall after eight (8) hours of regular work, receive compensation at a double time rate for any work after the regular work.
- 7.5 When a holiday falls on a regular workday during an employee's PTO, that holiday shall not be counted against accrued PTO.
- 7.6 Except for absence for PTO, or with prior approval, an employee must have worked the last regularly scheduled day prior to the holiday and the first regularly scheduled day following the holiday to be eligible for holiday pay.

ARTICLE 8 PAID TIME OFF

- 8.1 Paid time off (PTO) benefits are hours credited per pay period to employees based on years of service to be used to continue pay when away from work for vacation, sickness, immediate family illness, and/or doctor and dentist appointments.
- 8.2 Subject to the provisions and limitations of this Agreement, regular full-time employees shall accrue from the date of hire as probationary employees PTO benefits according to the following schedule:

Years of Continuous Service	Annual Leave Accrued Per Year
1st and 2nd Year	22 days (176 hours) per year
3rd, 4th and 5th Years	28 days (224 hours) per year
6th through 10th Years	31 days (248 hours) per year
11th through 15th Years	34 days (272 hours) per year
16th year and over	36 days (288 hours) per year

- 8.3 During the first six (6) months of employment, PTO is available only for illness of the employee or the employee's immediate family members. In the event more than forty (40) hours of PTO is used during the probationary period, the probationary period shall be extended by an equivalent amount of time.
 - 8.3.1 Other PTO Use. At the sole discretion of the department head or designee, a probationary employee may request and be granted PTO for reasons not listed in 8.3. Such requests may only be made upon the employee accruing 40 hours of PTO, and in no event may PTO granted under 8.3.1 draw the employee's accrued PTO balance below 40 hours during the probationary period.
- 8.4 PTO shall be the amount which the employee would have earned had the employee worked during the time off at the employee's current regular rate of pay.
- 8.5 Except for illness or an emergency, a PTO request must be submitted in advance in writing and approved by the employee's supervisor or Department Director. Written requests for PTO will be approved or denied within fourteen (14) calendar days of official receipt. If denied, the Employer will provide a written explanation. PTO will, so far as possible, consistent with operational requirements of the Employer, be granted at times most desired by the employee.

- 8.6 **PTO for Illness/Disability**. PTO shall be payable on the first day of a bona fide illness or disability of the employee or of the employee's immediate family. The employee shall be required to notify the Employer as soon as possible prior to the beginning of the employee's shift. Failure to do so may result in the loss of pay for that day and disciplinary action. The Employer will give consideration to extenuating circumstances that would make such notice requirement impossible.
- 8.7 **Proof of Illness/Disability**. The Employer reserves the right to require reasonable proof (such as a doctor's certificate) of illness or disability if more than two (2) days are used, or when fraud is suspected. Abuse of PTO shall be grounds for discipline except that blatant abuse may subject an employee to discharge.
- 8.8 **Medical Appointments**. An employee shall be allowed to use PTO for medical or dental appointments. The employee must notify his or her supervisor as far in advance as possible, but in any event not less than three (3) working days, except in an urgent situation.
- 8.9 An employee may not accumulate more than seven hundred twenty (720) hours of accrued PTO credits as of the end of any calendar year without written approval of the Borough Manager, or designee. Employees who have accrued more than seven hundred twenty (720) hours shall be paid for unused PTO at the rate of 100% of the value of the PTO in excess of the seven hundred twenty (720) hours.
- 8.10 Employees may elect to have the payment of excess PTO, subject to the same guidelines listed above, rolled over into the employee's deferred compensation plan account. The employee is responsible for all tax consequences of such a roll over. The Borough reserves the right to stop this practice if it determines that such a practice results in an increase in Borough liability or has other identified negative consequences to the Borough.
- 8.11 After the completion of an employee's probationary period, an employee shall be paid upon termination for 100% of the value for all PTO accrued but not used.
- 8.12 An employee who is entitled to receive compensation benefits under the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act or other similar legislation shall continue to earn PTO benefits pro-rata based on the actual number of hours worked, and the Borough shall continue to pay its portion of such employee's group medical and life insurance premiums, during the period the employee is unable to return to work, until his or her accrued PTO benefits are exhausted. If, at the exhaustion of such benefits, the employee is still unable to return to work, the employee shall cease to earn the PTO benefits, and the Borough will not

continue to pay its portion of the employee's group medical and life insurance premiums, provided; however, that the employee, at his or her sole option, may elect to continue such insurance coverage at the employee's cost as provided under the terms of such insurance policies and any applicable state or federal laws. An employee who is injured on the job and eligible for said benefits shall suffer no loss of pay for the day of injury, and at the employee's option shall be entitled to use PTO benefits for the difference between the worker's compensation benefit and the employee's regular pay.

- 8.13 **State Family and Medical Leave**. All covered employees are eligible for State Family & Medical Leave in accordance with the rights, requirements, regulations, limitations and conditions set forth in state law.
- 8.14 **Federal Family and Medical Leave**. All covered employees are eligible for Federal Family & Medical Leave in accordance with the rights, requirements, regulations, limitations and conditions set forth in the federal law.
- 8.15 If a particular period of leave qualifies under both state and federal family and medical leave laws and/or other provisions of this Agreement, the leaves shall run concurrently. Generally, employees must give at least thirty (30) days advance notice to the Employer of the request for family medical leave when the leave is foreseeable.

ARTICLE 9 SENIORITY

- 9.1 Seniority as used herein shall mean the length of continuous employment with the Employer within job classifications covered by this Agreement. Employees shall not accumulate seniority during the period of probationary employment. After employees have completed the probationary period and have been transferred to regular status, seniority shall be dated from the date of hire.
- 9.2 The seniority of an employee shall terminate if that employee:
 - 9.2.1 Is laid off for a period of more than twelve (12) consecutive months.
 - 9.2.2 Voluntarily terminates their employment with the Employer.
 - 9.2.3 Is discharged for just cause.
 - 9.2.4 Is temporarily laid off and fails to return to work within ten (10) days after written notice requesting the individual to return to work is delivered by certified mail to the individual's last known address or to the individual personally and fails to notify the Employer within forty-eight (48) hours after having received such notification of an intention to return to work.
- 9.3 In the selection and assignment of shifts and days off, seniority shall prevail so long as the employee is qualified, and it is in the best interest of service. With respect to the scheduling of vacation PTO, the Employer shall determine an annual deadline for submitting one leave request per employee per year for which seniority shall prevail with respect to competing requests during the Employer's approval process. Vacation PTO requests thereafter shall be considered on a first come, first serve basis. In approving such requests, the Employer shall consider seniority in addition to operational needs and customer service requirements.
- 9.4 For purposes of this Agreement, date of hire shall mean the most recent date an employee became employed in a position covered by this Agreement. An employee who has worked for the Employer for three (3) years or more and who has terminated because of injury or illness shall, if rehired within three (3) years after such termination, be credited with his or her prior service for seniority purposes after three (3) more years of service.

ARTICLE 10 LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- 10.1 All leaves of absence without pay are to be requested from the Employer in writing as far in advance as possible, stating the reason for the leave and the amount of time requested. A written reply granting or denying the request shall be given by the Employer within fifteen (15) days except in the case of an emergency.
- 10.2 Leaves of absence without pay may be granted for periods of up to one hundred eighty (180) calendar days without loss of accrued benefits. In special cases, leaves of absence may be extended by mutual agreement.
- 10.3 Up to five (5) days of funeral leave [up to ten (10) days if the funeral is outside of Southeastern Alaska] may be allowed for a death in a regular employee's immediate family, to be charged to accumulated paid time off balance. Immediate family is defined as employee's spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, grandparent, stepparent, parent-in-law, stepchild, and grandchild. If the death occurs to an employee's parent, child, sibling, or spouse, the first five (5) days of such leave shall be paid by the Employer without effect on the employee's PTO.
- 10.4 Employees may use accrued paid time off or be granted leave without pay for actual periods of temporary disability of such employees caused or contributed to by pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, or childbirth, and recovery therefrom. The stage at which leave should be allowed for such reasons and the period for recovery, shall be determined based upon the recommendations of the employee's physician.
- 10.5 **Association Business Leave**. There is hereby established an APEA/AFT Business Leave Bank, which may be used to conduct the affairs of the Association and/or administer this Agreement. The bank shall be funded by the annual assessment of four (4) hours of accrued PTO time from each member each year in January. In addition, members may voluntarily donate any additional hours of PTO that they may have earned and accrued. Voluntary donations must be made in increments of not less than four (4) hours of donated PTO. The Local President shall authorize the use of the bank; however, the Employer shall approve the absence from work on the same basis as PTO for vacation, except that such approval shall not be unreasonably denied. Donations and usages of Association Business Leave shall be accounted for on a dollar-for-dollar basis without consideration of benefits effective January 1, 2012. The Employer shall provide the Local President with a current accounting of the Association Business Leave balance each February and upon request by the President. The Borough is not obligated to approve Association Business Leave requests when the leave bank is at or below zero.

- 10.6 <u>Military Leave</u>. Leave necessary for an employee to attend required paid military drills/training for the National Guard or a military reserve of the United States, or if called to honor an active-duty commitment to the National Guard or military reserve of the United States, shall be granted without loss of benefits accrued to the date such leave commences. Regular full-time employees on such leave shall be entitled to benefits in compliance with United States Uniformed Services Act.
 - 10.6.1 **Special Military Leave Benefit**. Regular full-time employees on Military Leave under Article 10.6 shall be compensated by the Employer for the difference between their military pay and their regular pay up to a maximum of two (2) weeks. A copy of the order issued by an appropriate military authority for military training shall accompany requests for special military leave. Upon return to duty the employee shall furnish the Employer evidence of the amount of military pay received during the period of special military leave.

ARTICLE 11 JURY DUTY

- 11.1 Employees who are called to serve on jury duty, or who are subpoenaed to testify in court on a matter related to their employment or volunteer activities on behalf of the Borough, shall turn over to the Employer all jury or witness pay received for time absent from work and in turn shall be paid their normal straight-time pay that would otherwise be payable to the employee for work that the employee would have performed but for the jury or witness service. If the employee is temporarily or permanently excused from jury or witness duty, the employee shall promptly return to work. An employee who serves on a jury or testifies in court under the provisions of this section shall be considered assigned to work between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on the days affected. All hours of jury duty or witness service which occur during an employee's normally scheduled workday shall be considered time worked.
- 11.2 Employees who are subpoenaed to court in matters not related to their employment or volunteer activities on behalf of the Borough may take the time required as paid time off or leave without pay at the employee's option.

ARTICLE 12 TRAINING

12.1 The Parties agree that education and training may enhance an employee's job performance and prepare the employee for career advancement within the Borough. To that end the Parties encourage employees to take advantage of the Employee Education Assistance Program (EEAP).

Prior to April 1 of each year, employees desiring Borough-funded job-related training during the next fiscal year shall submit to their department head a written proposal outlining and describing the specific training program desired, explaining its relevance to the employee's job, and estimating its cost, including any related travel expenses and personnel replacement costs. The department head may include any such requests in the department's proposed budget. Employees may receive additional training opportunities which become available, subject to budget limitations. Upon mutual agreement of the employee and the Employer, an employee may be required to repay the expenses of a training program if they separate from Borough service within twelve (12) months of the completion of the training program.

- 12.2 Annual CPR training will be available to all employees and required for classifications designated by the Employer.
- 12.3 Training required by the Employer will be provided at the Employer's expense.
 - 12.3.1 The Borough will pay the Alaska Department of Motor Vehicles fees required to obtain and renew a commercial driver's license ("CDL") when a CDL is a requirement of an employee's job description. The payment of fees is limited to the CDL fee only and does not cover any fines or penalties the employee may be required to pay before the CDL can be issued.

ARTICLE 13 MEDICAL BENEFITS

- 13.1 All eligible employees covered by this Agreement will receive a life, medical, dental, vision, audio and hospitalization insurance plan. The employee premium shall be \$50 per month, with \$25 to be deducted from each paycheck beginning January 1, 2019. The premium covers the employee, spouse, and dependents. The Borough shall offer a program to reduce the employee premium cost to \$0 through employee participation in a wellness or similar program.
- 13.2 The Employer reserves the right to determine and change the insurance plan, plan design (coverage and exclusions), plan benefits subject to the limits in section 13.2.1 or carrier. The Employer shall notify the Union of any such change with notification to the APEA Business Manager and local President.
 - 13.2.1 All employees covered by this Agreement will be covered by the same plan and carrier as provided to the non-represented employees of the Borough, with benefit limits no less beneficial than the following:

Deductible \$350 individual/\$1,050 family

Coinsurance 80% plan / 20% individual of Aetna PPO-allowed

amount (or UCR)* after deductible is satisfied

Office Visit (PCP/Spec) 1st 6 - \$25/\$25 copays

Out of Pocket Maximum \$1,500/individual

Out of Network benefits may incur higher deductibles and out of pocket maximums.

- 13.2.2 If the Borough establishes a Borough-wide committee to identify cost containment measures, the Union agrees to participate in such a committee.
- 13.3 The Employer shall, upon request, reimburse regular full-time employees for the cost of not more than one (1) complete physical examination per year, provided that the claim must first be processed through the insurance carrier. The Employer will reimburse no more than \$75 of the amount not paid by the carrier. Borough Transit Bus Drivers are encouraged to voluntarily undergo a complete physical examination on an annual basis for which the Borough will reimburse all costs not covered by insurance, and which may occur during work hours not to exceed two hours.
- 13.4 The Employer shall annually provide education during regular business hours on health

APEA/AFT & KETCHIKAN GATEWAY BOROUGH

insurance and related benefits. Such education may include but is not limited to benefits and programs such as TeleDoc and BridgeHealth; general insurance terms and their meaning such as in-network and out-of-network, and usual and customary or UCR; as well as strategies that may help an employee manage or reduce medical costs.

ARTICLE 14 RETIREMENT PLAN

It is agreed that eligible employees in positions currently covered under said plan shall remain under the State Police and Firefighters Pension Plan, and all other employees shall continue their present coverage under the Alaska Public Employees Retirement System.

ARTICLE 15 LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

A Labor-Management Committee (LMC) will be maintained and meet at least quarterly or upon request by either party to the other. The LMC consisting of up to four (4) representatives from Borough management and up to four (4) representatives from the Union, shall meet to discuss issues arising out of this Agreement, or other such topic as the parties may agree to discuss. Meetings shall occur at mutually agreed to locations and times during normal working hours. All LMC members in attendance shall be paid at their normal rate of pay.

ARTICLE 16 NO STRIKE - NO LOCKOUT

This Agreement is a guarantee by both parties that there will be neither strikes nor lockouts during the life of the Agreement. The Association and employees further agree that they will not sanction, aid or abet, encourage or continue any work stoppages, strike, sympathy strike, picketing, sickouts, slowdowns, hand billing or other disruptive activity during the life of the Agreement, and shall undertake all reasonable means to prevent or terminate any such activity.

ARTICLE 17 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 17.1 A grievance is defined as an alleged breach of this Agreement raised during its term. Time limits set forth in the following steps may only be extended by mutual written consent of the parties hereto. After a timely written grievance has been submitted, the employee's Department Head may give written consent to extension of the time limits set forth below in Section 17.3 (Step II Department Head). Any other extensions of time for grievance procedures must be agreed to in writing by the Borough Manager and the Association. Written notices and documents submitted pursuant to or required by this Article shall be sent by certified mail and a grievance response or filing shall be considered timely if postmarked by the due date, except that grievance filings or responses may be hand delivered to the appropriate party. Timelines for responding to or advancing a grievance shall begin upon the date the previous response or filing was received. Written notices and documents submitted pursuant to this Article shall not be sent via fax or facsimile machine unless mutually agreed by the parties.
- 17.2 **Step I Immediate Supervisor**. The parties agree that grievances should be resolved, if possible, quickly, informally and at the lowest level of supervision. Any employee with a grievance shall first discuss it with an Association or Employee Representative. If the Association or Employee Representative believes the grievance has merit, the employee, with or without the Employee Representative, shall discuss it with the employee's immediate supervisor and attempt to resolve it informally. If it cannot be resolved informally, the following procedure shall be followed.
- 17.3 **Step II Department Head**. The Association or Employee Representative shall set forth the grievance in writing on, and in accordance with, a form identical to that attached hereto as Appendix C and submit such written grievance to the employee's Department Head for receipt within fourteen (14) calendar days after the employee knew or should have known that he or she had a grievance, whichever is earlier. A seven (7) calendar day limit shall apply to grievances relating to discipline or discharge. The written grievance, on the form required, shall contain a description of the alleged problem, the section of the Agreement involved, the date it occurred, and the corrective action desired. After receipt of the written grievance, the Department Head will schedule a meeting between the Department Head, Association or Employee Representative, and the employee at a mutually agreeable time within ten (10) calendar days after the grievance is received, and the Department Head shall respond in writing within ten (10) calendar days of the meeting.
- 17.4 **Step III Borough Manager**. If not satisfied with the reply, the Association may within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the reply present the written grievance to the Borough

Manager or designee who shall schedule a meeting with the Association or Employee Representative at a mutually agreeable time and place within ten (10) calendar days after presentation for the purpose of resolving the grievance. The Borough Manager or designee shall respond in writing to the grievance within ten (10) calendar days after the Step III meeting.

- 17.5 **Step IV Arbitration**. If not settled, the Association may submit in writing the grievance to final and binding arbitration within fifteen (15) calendar days following receipt of the Step III response. Within seven (7) calendar days of the written notification that the dispute is submitted for arbitration, the Employer and the Association shall attempt to agree on an arbitrator. If the parties are unable to agree on an arbitrator, the Association shall within seven (7) calendar days after failure to agree and no later than fourteen (14) calendar days following the Employer's receipt of the notice of appeal to arbitration, request the Federal Mediation & Conciliation Service to supply a list of thirteen (13) qualified arbitrators and the parties shall alternatingly strike names from such list until the name of one (1) arbitrator remains who shall be the arbitrator. The party to strike the first name shall be determined by coin toss. The arbitrator shall be notified immediately of his or her selection by letters from the Employer and the Association requesting that a time and place for a hearing be set as soon as possible. The arbitrator's award shall be final and binding, subject to the limits of authority stated below.
- 17.6 **Arbitrator's Authority.** The arbitrator's function is to interpret the Agreement. The arbitrator shall consider only the particular issues presented in writing by the Employer and/or the Association. The arbitrator shall have no authority or power to add to, delete from, disregard, or alter any of the provisions of this Agreement, but shall be authorized only to interpret the existing provisions of this Agreement as they may apply to the specific facts of the issue in dispute. The arbitrator shall not decide on the merit or wisdom of any action or failure to act, but only on the contractual obligation inherent in this Agreement. If the arbitrator should find that the Employer was not prohibited by this Agreement from taking, or not taking, the action grieved, he or she shall have no authority to change or restrict the Employer's action or inaction or to substitute his or her own judgment for that of the Employer. Unless a specific provision of this Agreement expressly grants the Association or employees a right, privilege, or benefit claimed by it or them, the arbitrator shall not award any such right, privilege, or benefit to the Association or employees.
- 17.7 Any dispute as to procedure shall be heard and decided by the arbitrator in a separate

proceeding prior to any hearing on the merits. Any dismissal of a grievance by the arbitrator, whether on the merits or on procedural grounds, shall bar any further arbitration. If either party intends to raise arbitrability issues, the other party shall be notified in writing of the issues not later than fifteen (15) calendar days before the hearing so both sides are prepared to address the issues. The losing party as determined by the arbitrator shall bear the fee of the arbitrator; if there is no losing party, the fee will be equally shared by the parties. All other expenses shall be borne by the party incurring them, and neither party shall be responsible for the expenses of witnesses called by the other party, except those witnesses who are employees of the Employer shall be paid by the Employer for normal working time spent testifying at the hearing.

- 17.8 If an employee or the Association fails to process a grievance at any step within the time limits set forth above and the procedure is not waived by mutual written agreement, that grievance shall be deemed waived and such failure shall constitute a bar to any future actions thereon. If the Employer fails to answer a grievance at any step within the time limits set forth above and the procedure is not waived by mutual written agreement, the grievance shall be granted on a non-precedent setting basis.
- 17.9 Employee Representatives shall be granted paid time off to investigate and prosecute grievances. Such time off shall be limited to a maximum of four (4) hours per any one (1) month and may only be denied in the event of an emergency.

ARTICLE 18 SAFETY PRACTICES

- 18.1 The Employer shall furnish such safety devices and first aid kits as are required for the safety and emergency medical treatment of employees. All rubber equipment required for the protection of employees working on or in the close proximity of live electrical equipment is to be furnished by the Employer and shall be used by the employees at all appropriate times. Present practices of furnishing equipment, tools, facilities or clothing will be continued during the life of this Agreement unless otherwise mutually agreed by the Association and the Employer. False arrest and errors and omissions insurance shall be provided covering appropriate Borough employees. The Employer shall provide Hepatitis B vaccinations for all employees required by law.
- 18.2 A safety and first aid program will be maintained. A safety committee composed of equal representation from the Employer and the employees shall meet upon written request by the Employer or Union to the other party. This safety committee will meet at a mutually agreed time and place.
- 18.3 The Employer shall provide such training as is necessary for employees required by the Employer to hold a first aid card in order to maintain certification required by the Employer. When CPR training is provided for airport personnel, up to one (1) employee from each department shall be given the opportunity to participate in such training at Borough expense.
- 18.4 All employees shall be responsible for working in a safe and proper manner. Applicable federal and state occupational safety laws and regulations shall serve as standards with which all employees and the Employer shall comply. Any employee who is aware of an unsafe working condition or practice shall immediately notify his or her supervisor of same. Employees shall not expose or subject themselves to unsafe working conditions. Any disputes relating to safety practices may be submitted to either the grievance procedure contained herein or an appropriate government agency.

ARTICLE 19 TRAVEL

- 19.1 Employees covered by this Agreement, while traveling on official business and out of town, shall be reimbursed actual expenses for transportation and lodging, and paid per diem for meal expenses, as provided for in the Borough's Travel and Training Policy and Title 30 of the Borough's Code. If changes are proposed to the Travel and Training Policy during the life of this Agreement, the Employer shall notify the Union in writing of such changes before submission to the Assembly for adoption.
- 19.2 The Employer shall provide the necessary vehicles required by the Employer for employees to use in the scope of their employment. Employees who use their personal vehicles on approved Borough business shall be reimbursed at the IRS maximum reimbursable amount per mile for documented mileage driven on Borough business.
- 19.3 Employees who use their personal vehicles on approved Borough business in excess of three (3) days per week and twenty (20) miles per week shall be reimbursed in addition to 19.2 above as follows:
 - 19.3.1 Incremental cost of vehicle liability insurance incurred as a result of use of one (1) personal vehicle per employee for Borough business.
 - 19.3.2 Actual expenses incurred for monthly parking at a lot, space, or garage designated and approved by the Employer.

ARTICLE 20 EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES

20.1 **Personal Tools**

- 20.1.1 No employee shall be required to use personal tools while working at the Borough. Failure to use personal tools shall not be a basis for disciplinary action under this Agreement.
- 20.1.2 Employees who currently use personal power tools shall provide an inventory of all personal power tools being used at work not later than thirty (30) calendar days after the signing of this Agreement to their supervisor
- 20.1.3 Personal tools which are worn out, destroyed or broken while being used by an Employee in the performance of their work will be replaced by the Employer with tools of equal quality, so long as such tool was authorized to be used for the performance of the employee's work. Employees will normally be required to provide proof of loss and present the broken or worn tool to the Employer prior to receiving a replacement. The Employer will also replace such tools when stolen from a Borough work site if evidence of forcible entry or other physical evidence of theft is presented and the employee has filed a complaint with the police department.
- 20.1.4 The Employer reserves the right to determine what tools an employee may use at the workplace. Nothing in this Section precludes the Employer from requiring an employee to remove personal tools from the workplace. However, if personal tools are removed, the Employer shall provide the necessary tools to perform the work and the Employee shall use the tools provided.
- 20.2 **Eyeglasses.** The Employer shall reimburse regular full-time employees for the difference between available medical and/or industrial insurance benefits and the cost of repairing or replacing (at the Employer's option) up to one pair per year of eyeglasses broken on the job, provided proof of job-related loss is submitted.
- 20.3 **Protective Clothing, PPE, and Safety Gear.** The Employer shall continue to furnish and replace protective clothing, PPE, and safety gear required by law and by mutual agreement.

20.4 Personnel Files

20.4.1 The Borough shall maintain one (1) official personnel file on each employee and each employee shall have access to that file. A supervisor may maintain a working

file, but it is recognized that a working file is not the official personnel record.

- 20.4.2 Access to these files by other than the Borough Manager, Assistant Borough Manager, Human Resources Administrator, legal counsel, the employee's department head and/or supervisor, and the Manager's executive secretary shall not be allowed without prior approval of the Borough Manager and the employee involved.
- 20.4.3 Employees will be given a copy of their file(s) on reasonable written request. Employees shall be advised of and receive copies of all material before being placed in their personnel files. Disciplinary documents issued after October 1, 2011, may be removed from an employee's file after one (1) year upon request by the employee to the employee's immediate supervisor, subject to review and approval by the Borough Manager, or designee.
- 20.4.4 Medical records shall be kept in a separate file which shall be maintained in the Borough Manager's office. Access to medical records shall be restricted to the Borough Manager, Assistant Borough Manager, Human Resources Manager, legal counsel, and the Administrative Secretary to the Manager.
- 20.4.5 Copies of letters of commendation received by the Employer will be distributed to all involved employees and filed in the personnel files.
- 20.5 **Timecards**. Changes on timecards that involve an employee's rate of pay or hours worked shall be brought to the attention of the employee involved. Copies of employee's timecard shall be made available for inspection if requested by the employee or an authorized Association representative.
- 20.6 **Voting**. Any employee shall be given the necessary time off, without loss of pay, for the purpose of voting when the polls are not open at least two (2) hours before or after the employee's scheduled hours of work.

20.7 Evaluations

- 20.7.1 The performance of personnel who are on probationary status will be evaluated at the end of the probationary period. The Employer may evaluate at other intervals during and after the probationary period or at an anniversary date.
- 20.7.2 Regular employees may be evaluated more often as needed but in no case more often than four (4) times in any twelve (12) month period.

- 20.7.3 The original copy of the evaluation shall be incorporated into the personnel files.
- 20.7.4 If an evaluation is late, it shall not delay the transition from probationary to regular status for a new hire as provided in Article 4.
- 20.7.5 If an evaluation is more than forty-five (45) days late, the evaluation shall specifically and clearly state the amount of time the evaluation is delayed.
- 20.8 **Drug and Substance Abuse Policy**. The parties recognize that federal law mandates that the Ketchikan Gateway Borough establish and maintain a drug free workplace. Accordingly, employees are subject to the Ketchikan Gateway Borough Drug and Substance Abuse Policy.
 - 20.8.1 Employees who are required by law to be tested for drugs are subject to drug testing under the following circumstances: pre-employment, post-accident, random, reasonable suspicion, return to duty, and follow-up testing.
 - 20.8.2 An employee who refuses to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test will be considered to have failed the test. Refusal to take a required test or failure of the test will result in removal from all safety sensitive functions and may result in disciplinary action up to and including discharge.
- 20.9 **Bargaining Unit Work.** Supervisory personnel generally will not perform work which is exclusively within the job description of APEA-represented employees. For the purposes of this Section, and for no other purposes, such work shall be referred to as "bargaining unit work". Supervisory personnel may perform bargaining unit work in the following circumstances:
 - 20.9.1 **Emergency**. During an emergency as defined in Section 3.7 of this Agreement, a supervisor may perform bargaining unit work.
 - 20.9.2 **Training**. A supervisor may demonstrate how to operate equipment or otherwise perform bargaining unit work while training a Borough employee.
 - 20.9.3 **Maintenance**. A supervisor may perform bargaining unit work when necessary to determine whether maintenance is needed or whether maintenance has been satisfactorily completed on any Borough vehicles or equipment.
 - 20.9.4 *De minimis*. A supervisor may perform bargaining unit work when the work

involved is minimal. Any work which would not disqualify the supervisor from administrative status under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) is considered de minimus. Any work which requires two (2) hours or less of the supervisor's time shall be deemed to come within this de minimis exception.

- 20.9.5 No bargaining unit member is available. When a supervisor has made a reasonable, good faith effort to locate an employee to do bargaining unit work, or when a supervisor has actually offered an employee such work and no employee is available who will accept the work, the work may be done by any available and qualified Borough personnel.
- 20.10 **New Hire Orientation**. New hires shall be provided an orientation which includes a review of applicable employment policies, including but not limited to, the Drug and Substance Abuse Policy, as well as receipt of a copy of such policies.

ARTICLE 21 NONDISCRIMINATION

The Employer and the Association agree that there shall be no unlawful discrimination against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, age, sex, national origin, disability, marital status, change in marital status, pregnancy, parenthood, political affiliation or political belief, except as permitted by law and unless one of the foregoing factors constitutes a bona fide occupational qualification; provided, however, that a claim that this provision has been violated shall not be subject to Step IV of the grievance procedure of this Agreement unless mutually agreed to by the parties hereto, and provided further that any claim, complaint or charge that this provision has been breached or violated shall be deemed waived and unenforceable and the Employer and Association thereby released from any liability if not filed with the appropriate administrative agency and/or court of law within one hundred eighty (180) days of the alleged act of discrimination.

ARTICLE 22 ASSOCIATION SECURITY

- 22.1 All full-time and part-time employees covered by this Agreement who voluntarily choose to become members of the Association shall share in the costs of maintaining and operating the Association as their collective bargaining agent and shall be members thereof in good standing.
- 22.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Employer shall deduct from the wages of employees covered by this Agreement and pay over monthly to the proper officers of the Association any membership and initiation fees, dues or equivalent service charge for those employees who individually and voluntarily authorize such deduction in writing by signing the membership form attached hereto as Appendix B. The Employer will not be held liable for deduction errors but will make proper adjustments with the Association for errors as soon as practicable. The Association will hold the Employer harmless for any action taken at the written direction of the Association pertaining to this article. Along with the monthly remittance of dues to the Association, the Employer shall provide the Association with a list of bargaining unit members designating those who individually and voluntarily execute Appendix B, their job titles, the hire date and the amount withheld on behalf of each such member.
- 22.3 The Association shall appoint up to three (3) employees, in addition to the Association's President to serve as Employee Representatives and so notify the Employer as to their names and specific duties. No other employee or member of the Association, outside of Association Representatives or its appointed Employee Representatives, shall represent the Association.
- 22.4 Employee Representatives shall perform work for the Employer to the same extent as other employees. After giving written notice to or having made an appointment with the Department Director, authorized Association or Employee Representatives shall be allowed admission to any shop or job at any reasonable time for the purpose of investigating conditions existing on the job. Such authorized representatives shall confine their activities during such investigation to matters relating to this Agreement and shall not interfere with the work of employees or the Employer's operations. No Association business shall be performed during working time except as specifically authorized by this Agreement.
- 22.5 The Association shall have the right to use those bulletin boards designated for job postings through the Labor-Management Committee process for posting official Association notices and bulletins.

- 22.6 Where there is available meeting space in Borough-owned or leased buildings, this space may be used for meetings by the Association at no cost to the Association with reasonable notice to the Employer consistent with the Borough policies. Approval shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 22.7 The Borough will allow an Association member to provide a thirty (30) minute orientation, on Borough property, during operating hours to new hires. This orientation will be considered time worked for payroll purposes and charged to the Association leave bank. To facilitate this orientation Human Resources will share electronically with the Employee Representatives. President of Local 6137, and APEA/AFT the names, positions and primary worksite of all new hires no later than seven (7) days after their Date of Hire.

ARTICLE 23 UNIFORMS

23.1 Upon hire, each of those Employees in the following Classifications listed below will receive at the Borough's expense the following:

Transit Mechanics: Transit Bus Drivers I and II:

5 shirts 5 shirts

5 pairs of pants, 1 hooded pullover sweatshirt

3 hooded pull-over sweatshirts, 1 winter jacket

1 pair work boots

Airport LEOs and Animal Protection Officers:

4 pairs of pants or skirts 1 winter jacket, 4 shirts 1 summer jacket

1 pair of boots 1 dress belt or suspenders

1 baseball style cap

Airport Equipment Mechanic I/ARFF, Airport Equipment Mechanic II/ARFF Lead, Airport Technician/ARFF, Airport Technician/ARFF Foreman, Maintenance Laborer:

4 pairs of pants, 2 pair non-insulated coveralls,

4 shirts, pull-over hoodies, or polos 1 pair insulated coveralls or bibs & jacket,

4 t-shirts

1 pair of work boots.

Airport Custodians: Airport Ferry Toll Collectors:

3 shirts, smocks or polos, 3 shirts, smocks or polos

1 jacket 1 jacket

23.1.1 Employees whose duties require regular sustained outdoor work shall additionally be provided rain gear and ice cleats.

Page 45 of 53

23.1.2 Airport LEOs shall be additionally authorized to purchase gear to include:

1 duty belt1 magazine holder1 firearm holster4 belt keepers

1 set handcuffs and holder
1 spare handcuff key
1 firearm and magazines
1 flashlight and holder
1 baton and baton holder

1 key holder

- 23.2 Uniform patches, embroidery, tailoring, and insignia shall be provided by the employer.
- 23.3 **Replacement**. With the exception of Airport LEOs, each employee is authorized to purchase up to \$350 per year in replacement uniforms. Airport Police Officers and Animal Protection Officers are authorized to purchase up to \$450 per year per employee in replacement uniforms. Unexpended amount at the end of the year shall lapse. Purchases may be made using a Borough P-card or through reimbursement, as arranged with the immediate supervisor and approved by the department head.
- 23.4 **Replacement Exceptions**. In the event any of the clothing items listed above and issued by the Employer are damaged or destroyed in the line of duty or because of work responsibilities, the item damaged or destroyed shall be replaced by the Employer. The question of whether the item qualifies for replacement under this paragraph shall be at the sole discretion of the Department Head, or designee.
- 23.5 **Uniform Allowance Restrictions.** The Ketchikan Gateway Borough will not furnish uniforms or reimburse for uniforms within thirty (30) days of a planned termination of employment.

ARTICLE 24 GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 24.1 Any and all agreements, written and verbal, previously entered into by the parties hereto are in all things mutually canceled and superseded by this Agreement. Unless specifically provided herein to the contrary, past practices shall not be binding on the Employer.
- 24.2 The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the parties hereto, for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated, to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of any or all of the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this Agreement. The parties further agree, however, that this Agreement may be amended with the mutual consent of the parties in writing at any time during its term.
- 24.3 Should any article, section or provision herein contained be rendered or declared invalid by reason of any existing or subsequently enacted statute, ordinance or other law, or by the decree of judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidation of such article, section or provisions will not affect the remaining portions hereof and such other parts and provisions will remain in full force and effect. Upon the invalidation of any article, section or provision hereof, the parties will meet and negotiate the parts and provisions concerned within thirty days (30) days from the date the fact of such validations is communicated to them; provided, however, that the parties may mutually agree to extend the time for such negotiations. If there is any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and any Human Resources memoranda or rules of the merit system in effect at the time of signing of this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement will supersede those memoranda or rules in their application to the bargaining unit for the duration of this collective bargaining agreement, unless agreed to by the bargaining unit prior to implementation by management. Any future rules or policies which conflict with this agreement regarding a topic which is a mandatory subject of bargaining shall not be applied to this bargaining unit or its members until and unless the application of such policies or rules is negotiated with the bargaining unit.
- 24.4 Nothing contained herein shall prohibit the Employer, at its sole discretion, from paying wages and/or benefits in excess of those provided for herein.

24.5 For all matters related to this Agreement and the administration thereof, the following persons shall be the sole contacts for the parties for all notices, written or oral, correspondence, and other communications:

BOROUGH: Borough Manager or Designee

Ketchikan Gateway Borough 1900 First Avenue, Suite 210 Ketchikan, Alaska 99901

APEA/AFT: Business Manager or Designee

Alaska Public Employees Association/AFT

211 Fourth Street, Suite 306

Juneau, Alaska 99801

ARTICLE 25 TERM OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall become effective at 12:01 a.m. on December 20, 2024, and shall continue in full force and effect through and including 11:59 p.m., December 20, 2027, and shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter unless notice of desire to amend this Agreement is served by either party upon the other at least sixty (60) days prior to the date of expiration. A notice to amend may not be given prior to 180 days before the date of expiration. If notice to amend is given, negotiations shall commence within thirty (30) days following the date of the notice, and this Agreement shall remain in effect until the terms of a new or amended Agreement are agreed upon; provided, however, that if a notice to amend is timely given, either party may at any time thereafter notify the other in writing of its desire to terminate this Agreement as of a date stated in such notice to terminate, which date shall not be earlier than the date of expiration, and shall be at least thirty (30) days subsequent to the giving of such notice to terminate. Notwithstanding the timelines in this Article, the parties may enter into negotiations to amend this Agreement at any time by mutual agreement.

APPENDIX A - SCHEDULE OF PAY CLASSIFICATIONS

POSITION	GRADE
Appraiser II Associate Planner	C42
Assistant Planner Procurement/Contracts Officer	C41
Airport Tech/ARFF Foreman	B25
Administrative Assistant Lands Airport Equipment Mechanic II/Aircraft Rescue & Firefighter Mechanic (Transit)	B24
*Airport Law Enforcement Officer (LEO)	B23P
Airport Technician/ARFF Airport Equipment Mechanic I/ARFF Appraiser I Accounting Tech/Tax Specialist Platting/Zoning Clerk Records Information Specialist GIS Coordinator/Permit Technician Code Compliance Specialist/APO	B23
*Bus Driver II *Firefighter/EMT	B22P
Transit Grant Coordinator Airport Executive Secretary Accounting Tech/Payroll Administrative Assistant Public Works Administrative Assistant Transit Planning Technician	B22
*Bus Driver I	B21P
Animal Protection Officer Secretary/Appraiser Accounting Tech/Accounts Payable Maintenance Laborer	B21
Ferry Toll Collector Parking Lot Attendant Accounting Tech/Customer Service Rep Planning & Comm. Dev. Secretary Kennel Attendant	A13
Airport Custodian	A12

^{*}Indicates premium pay position

APPENDIX B ASSIGNMENT OF WAGES TO COVER ASSOCIATION DUES

APEA/AFT	Alaska Public Employees Association/AFT Membership Form					
Social Security/Member #	Last Name	First Name	M.I.			
L	Please Fill Out Completely &	Clearly				
DUES DEDUCTION CHECKOFF & MEMBERSHIP AUTHORIZATION (Please check one)						
I elect to join APEA/AFT as a Member with full membership benefits, privileges and voting rights. I recognize the need for a strong union and believe everyone represented by our union should pay their fair share to support our union's activities. I hereby request and voluntarily authorize my employer to deduct from my earnings and to pay over to APEA/AFT dues and initiation fees as determined by the membership according to the Constitution. This authorization shall remain in effect and shall be irrevocable unless I revoke it by sending written notice via U.S. Mail to both the employer and APEA/AFT during the period not less than thirty (30) days and not more than forty-five (45) days before the annual anniversary date of this agreement, or the date of termination of the applicable contract between the employer and APEA/AFT, whichever occurs sooner. This authorization shall be automatically renewed as an irrevocable check-off from year to year unless I revoke it in writing during the window period, even if I have resigned my membership in APEA/AFT.						
I elect to be a Voluntary Fair Share Fee Payer. Deduct representational service fees equal to ninety (90%) percent of regular membership dues, this service fee will pay the cost of union representation and IS NOT a condition of employment. Fair Share Fee Payers are entitled to all the benefits of the contract but no privileges or any voting rights of union membership. I authorize voluntary deduction of the monthly representational service fee.						
I decline membership and I decline to pay any representational fee. I understand that in the event that I require specific individual representational services, I may be required to pay for such services at the rate set by APEA/AFT.						
Mailing AddressCityStateZip						
Home Telephone ()	_ Cell Phone () H	ome Email				
Job TitleDe	partment Division	on Hire/Transfer Date				
Physical Work Address	City	StateZip				
Work Telephone ()	Work Email					
My employment status is:Permanent	Full TimePermanent Part-Time _	SeasonalTemporary (up to 120 days)			
I am joining t	he following APEA/AFT Bargain	ing Unit (Please check one):				
□ AK Housing Maint. & Custodia	ns 🗖 Fairbanks North Star Boro	ugh Detersburg Dist. Suppor City of Seward	t Personnel			
Anchorage Council of EducationCity of Bethel	□ Juneau Education Support □ Juneau Mental Health Prof	essionals United Special Education	n Service			
□ City of Fairbanks	□ Kenai Peninsula Borough	essionars a Office Special Education	ii Service			
□ City of Nome	□ Ketchikan Gateway Borou	gh				
□ Petersburg Borough	 Nome Joint Utilities 					
Signature of Employee						
Please complete form and email to membership@apea-aft.org, fax to 907-586-5905 or mail to APEA/AFT 211 4 TH St, Ste 306 Juneau, AK 99801 within 30 days of hire or transfer.						
### If you have any questions please contact your local Field Office. State Headquarters/Juneau Field Office: 211 Fourth St., Ste 306, Juneau, AK 99801, (907) 586-2334, (800) 478-9991, Fax 586-5905 Anchorage Field Office: 3310 Arctic Blvd. Ste 200 Anchorage, AK 99503 (907) 274-1688, (800) 478-9992, Fax (907) 277-4588 Fairbanks Field Office: 825 College Road, Fairbanks, AK 99701 (907) 456-5412, (800) 478-9993, Fax (907) 456-7478 For APEA/AFT use only IID/A Packet Sent Processed by Date I-Fee Paid Revised 7-2-18						
Revised 7-2-18						

APPENDIX C KETCHIKAN GATEWAY BOROUGH - APEA/AFT GRIEVANCE FORM

1.	Name of Grievant		
2.	Mailing Address		
3.	Job Title		4. Location
			of supervisor
7.	Date grievance occurred	8. Di	scussed with supervisor on
9.	For each contract provision you allege was violated:		
	9.1 Which contract section was violated?		
	9.2 When was it violated?		
10.	. If more than one contract provision was allegedly violated:		
	10.1 Which contract section was violated?	10.2	? When was it violated?
	10.3 Who violated it?	10.4	How was it violated?
11.	If more than two contract provisions were allegedly violated:		
			When was it violated?
	11.3 Who violated it?	11.4	How was it violated?
12.	. Relief Sought:		
— Da	ate		Employee (Grievant)
			Acceptation / Employee Depresentative